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There are many factors that come into play when attempting to determine the location and years of occupation of the three known Pine Fort periods.  However, a few general comments can be made about the two known sites, because they are within three-quarters of a mile of each other.

The sites were not ideal locations in many ways.  When H.Y. Hind journeyed up the Assiniboine in 1858, he noted that as far away as forty-five miles east of the site, the vegetation became considerably stunted as the soil became very sandy.  Grazing for their horses diminished as they approached the fort, however, at twenty-five miles east of the site, Hind observed that at least there was “plenty of water in lakelets.”


Within twenty miles to the west of Pine Creek, the land became a rolling prairie, with the soil more of a loam and the “herbage rich in the valleys and in most of the hollows.”
  The immediate area around the site was marked with sand dunes and stunted growth.  Alexander Henry remarked in July 1806 of the Pine Fort site that “here we had an establishment for several years, but from the scarcity of wood, provisions and other circumstances, it was abandoned and built higher up the river … at Rivière la Souris.”


He continued that the large floral growth consists of “some épinettes and stunted birches and poplars.”
  Hind observed the area to be mainly grassland, “dotted with stunted oaks, and thinly clothed with small balsam spruce and poplars.”
  This is not the sort of growth that makes for easy construction, or for prolonged settlement.


This sort of growth (aspen, poplar and birches predominate in sandy soils) is the third
 stage of regeneration of an area after a bad forest fire.  The growth described by Henry in 1806 corresponds to this third stage, which occurs approximately eighty years after a fire.  While the sandy soil would never make for lush growth, the types of trees are symptomatic of regeneration, and there are vague stories of fires in the area by the Aboriginals in the past.  1796 saw a bad fire which severely threatened, but did not destroy, the H.B.C. post of Brandon House, which was only about twelve land miles away from Pine Fort site (likely abandoned at this point). The journal for the post describes the situation:
May 23, Monday  “The plains has been on fire there 8 days and is now approaching the house, a gale of wind at South”.

May 24, Tuesday  “The fire is very near the House, makes us watch night and day”.

May 25, Wednesday  “The woods is fire all around the House, with difficulty we could save the house”.


Because the fire was moving up from the south, it is possible it could have approached the Pine Fort site.  As the buildings were likely still standing, but without occupants to trench the fort, the fort may have burned down.  However, that being the case, it seems unreasonable that the fort would be rebuilt in the immediate area in 1807 (Larocque’s journal) even if it was a good trade location.  Also the Mackie dig in 1971 showed no evidence of a fire and the second site was quite intact when Tyrrell surveyed the area in 1890.


Despite this gloomy picture, there were some obvious benefits to locating the fort in the area at the time of its initial construction.  D.A. Stewart pointed out an important factor in a report on Pine Fort in 1930:

In 1738 La Vérendrye did not dare to go farther up the river than Prairie Portage, and felt unsafe even there, because “we ran a great risk of so injuring our canoes that we should to be able to get them out, the place in which we were being one in which neither gum nor resin was to be had for mending them”.  But here, had he known, just a few miles higher up, were birch bark and spruce gum, while spruce rootlets, and ground juniper rootlets also, furnished in plenty the watap with which the bark was laced on the canoes.


Besides being an obvious link between the Missouri/Mississippi trade routes of the south, and upper Red, Qu’Appelle and Dauphin rivers to the north and west, the geographic location of Pine Fort was good as well.  Both sites are on a large horseshoe bend in the river, with at least twenty feet of bank to the water and therefore commanded good views of upstream and downstream traffic.

The most important single factor in the location of the forts was nearness to a supply of clean water.  The lower site is “about a mile in a straight line west of the mouth of Pine Creek”
 but it is not recorded whether there is a trail to the creek or not.  However, the Snart Site is directly adjacent to Mindy’s Stream which provides cold, clear water and flows all winter long.


There has been considerable confusion over the two fort sites.  J.B. Tyrrell in 1890 made important notes on the lower site, and although D.A. Stewart was presuming the documentation for his monograph to be from Tyrrell’s site, he clearly had studied the Snart Site, the site of Mackie’s dig.  An anthropology student, D. Hilderman, on a study of the Snart Site, was convinced that the lower site (Tyrrell’s) was in fact that mysterious Fort du Milieu.
  His evidence in support of this premise is sketchy, and it is based on the author’s delight in pointing out Dr. Stewart’s confusion of the two sites.  To further complicate matters, there have been signs of an Aboriginal village nearby, due to the large numbers of Aboriginal artifacts,
 and to several Aboriginal gravesites in the immediate area.


Physical descriptions of the fort are few in number, particularly from primary sources.  J.B. Tyrrell’s fort site is located in the northeast quarter of Section 36, Township 8, Range 14.  It was built very close to the river, which has since changed its course slightly.  At the time of his study in 1890, there was only about half of the fort remaining.  Those posts of the stockade remaining are made of spruce, about four inches in diameter driven into the ground.
  Their decay left a shallow trench.


Beginning at the top of the riverbank, at the southwest corner of what remained of the fort, Tyrrell calculated the stockade to run northeast 13 paces.  There it turned at a right angle and ran 56 paces to the northeast corner of the enclosures, and then 15 paces to the top of the bank.  At the northeast corner were the remains of a bastion, 8 feet square.

There were several shallow pits on the west side of the fort site.  The principal feature of the enclosure, Tyrrell noted, was a large mound 11 yards in diameter, 2 feet high, and with a pit in the centre 18 feet in diameter and 3 feet deep.  This, he explained, doubtless represented the remains of a house, and its timbers were still projecting from the bank.  The two west corners of the pit showed piles of stones where two fireplaces once were.  That was the only evidence of chimneys on the site.  Outside, and east of the enclosure, was a pit where another building stood.

Tyrrell’s sketch is reproduced here:
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The Snart Site is higher up the river, in the south-west quarter of Section 36, Township 8, Range 14.  This site was unfortunately first homesteaded in 1892,
 and has likely been cultivated ever since, therefore a great number of surface features have been lost.


Mackie reported that the overall dimensions of the fort were not yet known because the entire stockade had not been excavated because of the road over the site.  There is no point in reproducing his work here as it is all available in his published preliminary report.  According to an unpublished journal of John Macdonell, located at McGill University, the fort had more than one gate, however the dig produced no gates; Mackie guessed that the front gate likely lies under the road bed.


The stockade is similar in construction to that of the lower site, only the Snart Site fort had a double stockade, presumably for sure defence of the fort against siege, and with good reason.  In 1794 600 Sioux who were at war with the Assiniboines were determined to destroy Pine Fort.  (Mr. MacKay was able to turn the tide by giving the Aboriginals trade goods to the value of 200 skins).
  In 1796, John Sutherland was returning to Brandon House when he observed of Pine Fort, “this has been a capital place formerly with two lines of palisades within six feet of each other with bastions and proper places for defense”.


In 1935, Mr. G.S. Johnson contacted Dr. Stewart
 about Stewart’s paper on the early Assiniboine forts.  Mr. Johnson was a farmer who homesteaded the Snart Site at the turn of the century and he had some interesting things to say.  See Appendix A.

Firstly, he corrected Dr. Stewart’s location (who identified incorrectly with Tyrrell’s site).  He described the features of the land he had cultivated, knowing that it was the site of an old fort, and collected several artifacts.  He also wrote of a foot path, still obvious in 1894, on the bank of the river and well worn down to the river.  At that time the bank was 75 feet high, and below it was a ledge of land 20 feet wide which provided “a good landing for a loaded boat.”


North and west of the fort ran a road which continued along the Assiniboine valley and out to the main road from Prairie Portage to Fort Brandon.  Along this connector road in 1895 were four or five ancient log cabins in a row.  “Two of the cabins had the sod roof still up, or in place, with some holes in it however.  These cabins had a clay built-in fireplace at the north wall with [a] door and one small window on the north end.  The size of the cabins now I think about 16 x 18 or 16 x 20 ft.”
  There was a deep hole near the cabins, which he guessed to be an old well.  These were only about a quarter mile north of the fort site.


Still another road ran south west from the fort, and Mr. Johnson believed it was the shortest overland connection with Fort Souris and Brandon House.


A number of artifacts have turned up which may, with further research, help to define which occupation was where, and when.

Mr. Johnson turned up a silver cross which can be readily identified (from his detailed description) as a trade item from Montreal between the years 1773 and 1809.
  He also turned up several trade beads, all blue, which presumably would be from the most recent occupation of the fort.  All the beads on Mackie’s dig in 1971 and 1972 were either blue or white, which corresponds with the farmer’s finds.  However, a surface dig (to a depth of between 12 inches and 33 inches) of the Snart Site by C. Vickers in 1948 and Mr. Tamplin in 1968 revealed 219 glass beads of green, white, black and decorated styles.
  Mr. Johnson would presumably have picked up the most recent beads, then Vicker’s and Tamplin’s coloured beads, and finally Mackie’s consistently blue and white beads in the archaeological dig.


In addition to the normal Aboriginal and European manufactured articles that have turned up, a number of iron artifacts appear to have been made right at the fort.  Hand-forged nails and tools were found in the 1968 and 1971-72 digs.  There are numerous accounts in the Brandon House journals of 1810-11 of iron work going on at Pine Fort.


The November 23, 1810 entry includes “sent two men down to Pine Fort to procure nails to [fix] the boat to be repaid in old iron.”


January 6, 1811 reads “sent James Inkster and Thomas Kipling to Pine Fort with axes to repair.”


April 28, “self, Mr. Masson, and James Scarth went down to Pine Fort to get repaired several iron works belonging to carts and hatchets and augers.”


These entries would seem to indicate that Pine Fort had a good smith and a forge during this period, yet no evidence of one was uncovered at either site.  The 1796 Brandon House journal throws little light on the subject with the entry.

The North West Company keeps a cooper here all summer and winter who supplies all their settlements as he always travels between, besides a blacksmith which repairs the hatchets and makes other articles.


Mackie’s dig doubtless turned up many gun flints, but they cannot be identified.  Fortunately, the surface digs by Vickers and Tamplin turned up several (nine) flints.  With the exception of one of British manufacture, the flints were of French manufacture and could be definitely identified with the period between 1700 and 1750.  The British gunflint was characteristic of those dominant after 1775.


The artifacts, their relative positions on the site, and their likely time period are contradictory in many ways, and it is impossible to draw from them any conclusions.  The fort seemed to have a blacksmith’s area from as early as 1796 on, but the Snart Site showed no signs of it – it could be at the Tyrrell site which is now almost entirely washed away.
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